
March 5, 2007

EA 06-304
NMED No. 060564

Alaska Industrial X-Ray, Inc.
ATTN: Peter A. Millar, President
4047 Kingston Drive
Anchorage, Alaska 99504

SUBJECT: NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 030-10346/06-001

Dear Mr. Millar:

This refers to the safety inspection conducted on August 1, 2006, at your field station in
Anchorage, Alaska, with continued in-office review through February 26, 2007.  The inspection
was an examination of activities conducted under your license as they relate to safety and
compliance with the Commission’s rules and regulations.  Within these areas, the inspection
consisted of a selected examination of records, observation of activities, and interviews with
personnel.  The preliminary inspection findings were discussed with Mr. Ken Vandiver and you
at the conclusion of the onsite portion of the inspection.  A final exit briefing was conducted
telephonically with you and Mr. Ken Vandiver on February 26, 2007.

Based on the results of the inspection, two apparent violations of NRC requirements were
identified and are being considered for escalated enforcement action in accordance with the
NRC Enforcement Policy.  The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC’s web site at
www.nrc.gov ; select What We Do, Enforcement, then Enforcement Policy.  The apparent
violations involved: (1) a failure to notify NRC within 24 hours as required by 10 CFR
30.50(b)(2)(i) following the failure of a radiography exposure device’s auto-locking feature; and,
(2) a failure to submit a 30-day written report as required by 10 CFR 30.50(c)(2), which includes
specific information required by 10 CFR 30.50(c)(2). 

Since the NRC has not made a final determination in this matter, no Notice of Violation is being
issued for these inspection findings at this time.  In addition, please be advised that the number
and characterization of apparent violations described in the enclosed inspection report
(Enclosure 1) may change as a result of further NRC review.

A closed predecisional enforcement conference to discuss these apparent violations has been
scheduled for April 11, 2007, at 10:30 a.m. in our Arlington, Texas, office.  An agenda for the
conference is enclosed (Enclosure 2).  While NRC would like to meet with you to discuss the
apparent violations, a closed telephonic predecisional enforcement conference may also be
arranged.  Please contact Ms. Vivian Campbell at (817) 860-8287 as soon as possible to inform
her of your decision.
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The decision to hold a predecisional enforcement conference does not mean that the NRC has
determined that a violation has occurred or that enforcement action will be taken.  This
conference is being held to obtain information to assist the NRC in making an enforcement
decision.  This may include information to determine whether a violation occurred, information
to determine the significance of a violation, information related to the identification of a violation,
and information related to any corrective actions taken or planned.  The conference will afford
an opportunity for you to provide your perspective on these matters and any other information
that you believe the NRC should take into consideration in making an enforcement decision.  In
presenting your corrective action, you should be aware that the promptness and
comprehensiveness of your actions will be considered in assessing any civil penalty for the
apparent violations.  The guidance in the enclosed excerpt from NRC Information Notice 96-28,
"SUGGESTED GUIDANCE RELATING TO DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF
CORRECTIVE ACTION," may be helpful (Enclosure 3).

You will be advised by separate correspondence of the results of our deliberations on this
matter.  No response regarding these apparent violations is required at this time.

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter, 
Enclosure 1, and your response, if any, will be made available electronically for public
inspection in the NRC Public Document Room or from the NRC’s document system (ADAMS),
accessible from the NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html.  To the extent
possible, your response should not include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards
information so that it can be made available to the Public without redaction. 

Should you have any questions concerning this inspection or the enclosed report, please
contact Ms. Vivian Campbell at (817) 860-8287 or Mr. Randy Erickson at (817) 860-8143.

Sincerely, 

 /RA/

Leonard D. Wert, Jr., Director
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety

Docket No.:  030-10346
License No.: 50-16084-01

Enclosures: 
1.  NRC Inspection Report 030-10346/06-001
2.  Predecisional Enforcement Conference Agenda
3.  Excerpt from NRC Information Notice 96-28

cc w/Enclosures 1-2:  
Alaska Radiation Control Program Director 
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EA-06-304;   NMED No.: 060564

bcc w/Enclosures 1-3 (via ADAMS distrib):
RIDSOEMAILCENTER
RIDSOGCMAILCENTER
RIDSNMSSOD
OEMail
R4ALLEGE
BSMallett
TPGwynn
LDWert
CLCain
KDFuller
HAFreeman
MSHaire
GMVasquez
WAMaier
VLDricks
JDCook
VHCampbell
RRErickson
JLThompson
GKMorell, FSME
MLBurgess, FSME
JRSchlueter, FSME RITS Coordinator
SLMerchant, OE NMIB
CACarpenter, OE RIV Materials Docket File (5th Floor)

SUNSI Review Completed: RRE

ADAMS:  X  Yes    No                 Initials: RRE
 X  Publicly Available         X Non-Sensitive

DOCUMENT NAME: s:\dnms\!nmib\!thompson\61034601.wpd final: r:_dnms\
RIV:DNMS:NMIB NMIB C:NMIB ES:ACES D:DNMS
RRErickson* JLThompson* VHCampbell MSHaire (via email

per VHCampbell)
LDWert

/RA/ /RA/  /RA/             /RA/  /RA/
01/23/07 01/24/07 02/22/07 02/14/07 03/05/07

OFFICIAL RECORD COPY T=Telephone           E=E-mail        F=Fax
*Previous Concurrence



ENCLOSURE 1

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Region IV

Docket No.: 030-10346

License No.: 50-16084-01

Report No.: 030-10346/06-001

EA No.: 06-304

Licensee: Alaska Industrial X-Ray, Inc.

Facility: Alaska Industrial X-Ray, Inc., Field Station

Location: Anchorage, Alaska

Date:  August 1, 2006

Inspector: Randy R. Erickson, Health Physicist
                                              Nuclear Materials Inspection Branch

Approved By: Vivian H. Campbell, Chief
Nuclear Materials Inspection Branch

Enclosure: Supplemental Inspection Information
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Alaska Industrial X-Ray, Inc. (AIX)
NRC Inspection Report 030-10346/06-001

This was a routine, unannounced inspection of licensed activities involving the use and storage
of byproduct material used in industrial radiography operations at temporary job sites in areas
of NRC jurisdiction.  The scope of the inspection was limited to direct observation of AIX
radiographic exposure devices and storage facility and discussions with the licensee’s
personnel.  No direct radiographic operations were observed during the inspection. 

Program Overview   

AIX is authorized under NRC License 50-16084-01 to possess and use byproduct material in
the performance of industrial radiographic operations at temporary job site locations in areas of
NRC jurisdiction.  Industrial radiography work is dispatched daily from AIX’s authorized storage
location in Anchorage, Alaska.  Work is also conducted outside of Anchorage at temporary job
sites in remote locations where radiographic exposure devices containing sealed sources are
either driven, flown, or barged to the location and stored on site.  At the time of the inspection,
the licensee employed approximately 10 personnel who were directly involved in radiographic
operations. (Section 1)

Inspection Findings

C The licensee failed to notify NRC within 24 hours following failures of a
radiography exposure device’s auto-locking feature to engage when the source
assembly was returned to a fully shielded position within the device.  This was
identified as an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.50(b)(2)(i). (Section 2)

C The licensee failed to submit a 30-day written report to the NRC reporting the
details of the event including information required by 10 CFR 30.50(c)(2)(i-vi). 
This was identified as an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.50(c)(2). (Section 2)   

Corrective Actions

C On August 1, 2006, the inspector notified the licensee of the requirement to
make a 24-hour notification to NRC’s Headquarters Operations Officer (HOO). 
On September 7, 2006, the licensee contacted the HOO to make the notification.
(Section 3)

C On August 1, 2006, the inspector notified the licensee of the requirement to
make a 30-day report.  (Section 3)
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Report Details

1 Program Overview (87121)

1.1 Inspection Scope

The inspector reviewed the license application, supporting documents, and other
records provided by the licensee.  Collectively, these documents describe the
licensee’s radiation safety program. 

1.2 Observations and Findings

Alaska Industrial X-Ray, Inc. (AIX) is authorized under NRC License
50-16084-01 to possess and use byproduct material in the performance of
industrial radiographic operations at temporary job site locations in areas of NRC
jurisdiction.  Industrial radiography work is dispatched daily from AIX’s authorized
storage location in Anchorage, Alaska.  Work is also conducted outside of
Anchorage at temporary job sites in remote locations where radiography
exposure devices (cameras) containing sealed sources are either driven, flown,
or barged to the location and stored on site.  At the time of the inspection, the
licensee employed approximately 10 personnel who were directly involved in
radiographic operations.  

2 Inspection Findings (87121)

2.1 Inspection Scope

The inspection included a review of selected records maintained by the licensee
at the Anchorage, Alaska, field station.  Detailed discussions regarding the
radiation safety program were conducted with AIX’s radiation safety officer
(RSO) and President.  In addition, the inspector discussed with the RSO and
President the failure of a camera to operate as intended.  The inspector
reviewed documentation provided by the licensee describing the failure of a
camera’s auto-locking (posi-lock) feature, a safety device designed to
automatically secure a fully retracted source inside a camera, in a fully shielded
position, after being manually returned to the camera.  This locking device failed
to function as designed prior to November 22, 2002, and again prior to
November 23, 2003.  Additionally, on August 16, 2006, the licensee held
telephonic conversations with Industrial Nuclear Corporation (INC), one of the
licensee’s camera manufacturers, concerning the failure of the posi-lock feature.  

2.2 Observations and Findings

10 CFR 30.50(b)(2)(i) requires, in part, that the licensee shall notify NRC within
24 hours after an event in which equipment is disabled or fails to function as
designed when the equipment is required by regulation or license condition to
prevent exposures to radiation exceeding regulatory limits. 



-4-

On August 1, 2006, through a review of documentation and interviews with the
RSO and President, the inspector determined that, prior to November 22, 2002,
an AIX radiographer had used a Tech Ops Model 660B industrial radiography
exposure device (S/N: 2907) when the posi-lock feature failed to secure the
source.  Following the failure of the camera posi-lock feature, the radiographer
manually retracted the sealed source into the camera.  The failure of the posi-
lock feature caused AIX to remove the camera from service and send it to INC
(not the camera’s manufacturer) for repair on or about November 22, 2002.  An
INC service manager informed the licensee that, because the camera was not
an INC camera, they were only able to clean and lubricate the posi-locking
feature, not repair it.  The camera was then returned to AIX.  After the camera
was returned by INC, the licensee checked the posi-lock feature and it appeared
that this action had corrected the problem.  However, prior to July 23, 2003, the
posi-locking feature on the same camera again failed to function as designed ,
so the licensee again removed the camera from service.  After the posi-lock
feature failed on the camera the second time, the sealed source was removed
and the camera was placed into storage.  The licensee has not used the camera
since July 23, 2003, and the licensee, at this time, does not plan to return it to
service or to the manufacturer for repair.  When taken out of service on July 23,
2003, the activity of the iridium-192 sealed source in the camera was
approximately 10 curies.  During the inspection, the inspector informed the
President that he needed to make the required 24-hour notification to the HOO
and follow-up the telephonic notification with a 30-day report.  The 24-hour
notification was made by the RSO on September 7, 2006, 37 days after the
August 1, 2006, inspection.    

The licensee’s failure to notify NRC within 24 hours after an event in which
equipment is disabled or fails to function as designed when the equipment is
required by regulation or license condition to prevent exposures to radiation and
where no redundant equipment was available to perform the safety function was
identified as an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.50(b)(2)(i).  (030-10346/006-01) 

10 CFR 30.50(c)(2) requires, in part, the licensee to submit a 30-day written
report identifying the details of an event including information required by 10
CFR 30.50(c)(2) (i-vi).  The required 30-day report, when submitted by the
licensee, should include, in part, a description of the event including probable
causes, the manufacturer and model number of the equipment, the exact
location of the event, the isotope, activity, and physical forms of material
involved, and corrective actions taken or planned by the licensee. 

 The failure of the licensee to submit a 30-day written report to the NRC, as
required, was identified as an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.50(c)(2). 
(030-10346/006-02) 
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2.3 Conclusions

The inspection identified two apparent violations involving: (1) the failure to notify
NRC within 24 hours as required by 10 CFR 30.50(b)(2)(i) following multiple
failures of a radiography exposure device’s auto-locking feature to engage when
the sealed source assembly was returned to a fully shielded position in the
radiography camera; and, (2) the failure to submit a 30-day written report under
10 CFR 30.50(c)(2), which includes information required by 10 CFR 30.50(c)(2). 

3 Corrective Actions (87121)

On September 7, 2006, the licensee contacted the HOO to make the required
24-hour notification, 37 days after the August 1, 2006, inspection.    

Following the February 26, 2007, exit briefing, the licensee faxed a copy of an
undated written report which the licensee identified during the exit briefing as
their 30 day report, a report which the licensee states had been sent to NRC
following the August 1, 2006 inspection. 

4 Exit Meeting Summary (87121) 

A preliminary site exit briefing was conducted with the President and RSO at the
conclusion of the onsite portion of the inspection.  A final exit meeting was
conducted telephonically with the AIX President and RSO on February 26, 2007,
to review the findings as presented in this report.  The licensee acknowledged
the inspector’s findings.  No proprietary information was identified.



ATTACHMENT

PARTIAL LIST OF PERSONS CONTACTED

Licensee

Peter Millar, President 
Ken Vandiver, RSO

INSPECTION PROCEDURES USED

87121 Industrial Radiography Programs

ITEMS OPENED, CLOSED, AND DISCUSSED

Opened 

030-10346/006-01          APV         An apparent violation involving the failure to notify NRC
                                                       within 24 hours following failures of a radiography exposure
                                                       device’s auto-locking feature to engage when the source
                                                       assembly was returned to a fully shielded position within the
                                                       device. 

030-10346/006-02         APV          An apparent violation involving the failure to submit a 30-day
                                                       written report reporting the details of the event including
                                                       information required by 10 CFR 30.50(c)(2). 
  
Closed

None

Discussed

None

LIST OF ACRONYMS USED

NRC Nuclear Regulatory Commission
CFR Code of Federal Regulations
APV Apparent Violation
RSO Radiation Safety Officer
INC Industrial Nuclear Company
EA Enforcement Action



ENCLOSURE 2

PREDECISIONAL ENFORCEMENT CONFERENCE AGENDA

ALASKA INDUSTRIAL X-RAY, INC.

APRIL 11, 2007

10:30 A.M.

ARLINGTON, TEXAS

1. INTRODUCTIONS/OPENING REMARKS - LEONARD WERT, NRC

2. ENFORCEMENT PROCESS - MARK HAIRE, NRC

3. APPARENT VIOLATIONS & REGULATORY CONCERNS - VIVIAN CAMPBELL,
NRC

4. LICENSEE PRESENTATION- ALASKA INDUSTRIAL X-RAY, INC.
MANAGEMENT

5. BREAK - 10 MINUTES

6. RESUMPTION OF CONFERENCE

7. CLOSING REMARKS - ALASKA INDUSTRIAL X-RAY, INC.

8. CLOSING REMARKS - LEONARD WERT, NRC



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /PageByPage
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (None)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Preserve
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages false
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth 8
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /FlateEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages false
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages false
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth 8
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /FlateEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages false
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages false
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages false
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /FRA <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 5.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /PTB <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [300 300]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


